United Nations CEDAW c/srsso (A)

\Q’ Convention on the Elimination Distr.: General

¢
\\/‘1\ /Y of All Forms of Discrimination 28 August 2009
=><< against Women

Original: English

Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination
against Women
Forty-fourth session

Summary record of the 889th meeting (Chamber A)
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Wednesday, 22 July 2009, at 3 p.m.

Chairperson: Ms. Gabr

Contents

Consideration of reports submitted by States parties under article 18 of the
Convention (continued)

Sixth periodic report of Spain (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be set forth in a
memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within one
week of the date of this document to the Chief, Official Records Editing Section, room DC2-750,
2 United Nations Plaza.

Any corrections to the record of the meetings of this session will be consolidated in a single
corrigendum, to be issued shortly after the end of the session.

OO LT3 iEﬁ Please rec cle@
0NV O 000 '



CEDAW/C/SR.889 (A)

The meeting was called to order at 3 p.m.

Consideration of reports submitted by States parties
under article 18 of the Convention (continued)

Sixth periodic report of Spain (CEDAW/C/ESP/6,
CEDAW/C/ESP/Q/6 and Add.1) (continued)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, the members
of the delegation of Spain took places at the Committee
table.

Articles 7 to 9

2. Ms. Halperin-Kaddari asked for clarification of
the figures on the political involvement of women that
appeared in paragraphs 97 and 105 of the report. She
would like to know whether the Organic Law on
effective equality (LOIE) was applicable to every
position in the public sector. Judging from the figures
shown in paragraph 106, she wondered whether LOIE
also applied to the private sector, as recommended by
the Committee in its general recommendations Nos. 23
and 25. She asked for information on measures taken to
ensure that Roma women could be represented in
political life.

3.  Ms. Aido (Spain) said that the Government was
making a special effort not only to enforce quotas for
female candidacies to elected office, but also to ensure
that female candidates were among the top five
positions on electoral lists so as to guarantee that they
had a chance of being elected. Forty-six per cent of
candidates for the Congress in the 2008 elections had
been women, an increase of 12 per cent compared with
2004. Since the adoption of the equality law, the
number of women elected to city councils had
increased by 7 per cent. Approximately 41 per cent of
the members of parliaments in the autonomous
communities were women. In 2008, the number of
women in senior positions in the national
administration had increased by 6.3 per cent with
respect to the previous year, and they now accounted
for 34 per cent of those posts. The number of women
holding positions in the judiciary had more than
doubled, from 11 per cent to 29 per cent. Candidate
lists in the autonomous communities were
automatically rejected if they did not comply with the
percentages required by LOIE. In the private sphere,
the equality law stipulated that firms employing more
than 250 workers must implement equality plans.
Although the requirement did not extend to small and

medium-sized enterprises, the Government offered
assistance to such firms in order to encourage them to
hire more women and help them reconcile work and
family life.

4. The equality law also established a period of
eight years for boards of directors of large firms to
achieve balance between male and female employees.
In 2004, the percentage of women on boards of IBEX
35 firms had been 2.58, while in 2007, it had been
6.43 per cent. Private firms still had six years in which
to meet the standards established in LOIE. Businesses
would eventually realize that meeting those goals made
sense from an economic standpoint; an increasing
number of companies were implementing equality
plans. The Ministry of Labour and Social Security, in
collaboration with the autonomous communities, had
instituted a plan of action for 2008-2011 that provided
for inspectors to monitor compliance with LOIE. In
2008, inspections had been conducted in 4,028 firms.

5. Ms. Martinez (Spain) said that there was no law
establishing quotas for minority participation in senior
positions. The equality law did not establish quotas
specifically for women, but rather sought to achieve
balanced representation between women and men.
However, the Government was working to increase the
social participation and visibility of Roma women in
particular by promoting their associations and their
cultural activities.

6. The equality law also applied to the Executive
Branch of government; accordingly, all appointments
made by the Council of Ministers had to meet the
requirement for balanced representation of women. At
present, 32 per cent of all Secretaries of State,
Under-Secretaries of State and Directors-General were
women.

Articles 10 to 14

7.  Ms. Coker-Appiah said that she would like more
information on measures being taken by the
Government to promote the access of Roma girls to
education and their retention in the system. With regard
to the transfer of education responsibilities from the
State to the autonomous communities, she asked how
the State would ensure that the autonomous
communities implemented measures for positive action
and support for Roma women and other vulnerable
women. Noting the high concentration of women in the
humanities, she asked what steps were being taken to

09-41739



CEDAW/C/SR.889 (A)

encourage more women to pursue science and
technology. She wondered whether the creation of the
Women and Science Unit in the Ministry of Education
had increased the number of women pursuing scientific
and technical fields in education. She would also like
more information on access of migrant women to
education.

8. Ms. Popescu asked for updated information
about unemployment among women, including data
broken down by provinces. Since it appeared that some
regions were coping with the economic crisis better
than others, she wondered whether those regions were
implementing certain good practices that could be used
nationwide. She asked whether the Government had
managed to mainstream the gender perspective in its
anti-crisis measures. She would be interested in having
more information on the gender-based segregation of
employment. She wondered what effect the planned
structural reform of the services sector would have on
women and what measures would be taken to protect
them from any consequences of that structural reform.

9.  She asked for updated information on the pay gap
between women and men and the impact of the current
crisis on that situation. Referring to the list of issues
and questions, she asked for information concerning
complaints related to the wage gap, the number of
complaints that had been taken to court and the number
of complaints that had been resolved.

10. She would Ilike to know why the LOIE
requirement for balance between male and female
employees of private companies was not applicable for
enterprises with less than 250 workers.

11. Ms. Hayashi said that she would appreciate more
information on the role of labour and social security
inspectors in addressing the pay gap between women
and men. She would like to know how the labour
inspection office assessed work of equal or similar
value. The statistics on gender-based discrimination
provided in the report seemed too low, and she
requested more up-to-date information. She wondered
if the labour inspections office was sensitive enough to
gender issues and what measures could be taken to
strengthen its role as a monitoring body. She asked
what type of compensation was available to victims of
wage discrimination and whether they could claim the
unpaid wages they should have received. She wondered
if there a statute of limitations on such complaints and

09-41739

whether victims could pursue their complaints without
going to court.

12. She was also concerned about the situation of
part-time workers, most of whom were women, and she
would be interested to know if the Government
planned to continue with its current policies in that
area. She would like to know what the Government
was doing to encourage women who wished to return
to full-time employment after working part-time to
care for children or other family members. She asked if
civil lawsuits had been brought by part-time workers
and what had been the outcome of those actions. She
would like more information on termination of
employment and what measures were in place to ensure
job security for part-time workers.

13. Ms. Arocha Dominguez asked whether the State
party had mechanisms in place to ensure that Roma
adolescents received a full secondary education, as
required by law. She was also concerned about the
school atmosphere for Roma students, who suffered
more discrimination than other minority groups. She
would like to know what measures were being taken to
overcome stereotypes of the Roma population that still
prevailed in schools.

14. Drawing attention to the figures provided in
paragraphs 230, 231 and 232 of the report regarding
HIV infections and pregnancy terminations among
adolescents, she urged the State party to improve
sexual education programmes. Improvements were also
needed in the delivery of sexual and reproductive
health services for women with disabilities.

15. Ms. Pimentel said that she found it difficult to
understand why, with so many mechanisms in place for
preventing and dealing with HIV/AIDS, there seemed
to be so little improvement in the situation. She would
like to know whether voluntary interruptions of
pregnancy were subject to any kind of penalties,
whether they were performed under adequate sanitary
conditions, and what was being done to reduce the
occurrence of such procedures.

16. Ms. Begum, noting the regrettable situation of
rural women as described in the report, asked what
initiatives were being taken to change the situation.
She would appreciate more information on
opportunities to enable women to participate in the
decision-making process in local administrations on an
equal footing with men. She wondered what
opportunities had been created to encourage women to



CEDAW/C/SR.889 (A)

become microentrepreneurs in agro-based industries.
She would like to know if the Strategic Plan for
Equality of Opportunities would improve the quality of
life of rural women and Roma women.

17. She would like to know whether the Sara
Programme for immigrant women included microcredit
options to enable migrant women to set up their own
business. She asked for more information on efforts to
enhance migrant women’s de facto equality in
employment, health and access to social services and to
the justice system. She would be interested in learning
whether foreign women who had temporary work
permits were protected by the equality law.

18. Ms. Martinez (Spain) said that thanks to
affirmative action measures taken by the Government,
51 per cent of economically active women were now
participating in the labour market. The delegation
would be happy to provide the Committee with up-to-
date information on the situation of women in the
labour market, the wage gap and related issues. The
number of women in academic positions had also
increased from 39 per cent of the active population in
2004 to 51 per cent by the end of 2008.

19. According to recent statistics, male
unemployment had reached 18 per cent and female
unemployment, 16 per cent. Full-time jobs had grown
more than part-time jobs in recent years. The
Government had continued to promote women’s access
to employment through incentives to employers and
similar measures. The wage gap remained a serious
problem not only for Spain but also for Europe as a
whole. It had not yet been possible to close that gap,
which currently stood at 17 per cent. In the context of a
campaign launched by the European Commission, the
Spanish Government had commissioned a research
study to quantify the wage differences between women
and men, analyze the causes of the differences and
develop indicators for accurately measuring the wage
gap. In addition, the Office of Labour and Social
Security Inspections would send inspectors to
workplaces that were highly feminized to report on
cases of direct and indirect wage discrimination.

20. The inspection plan to monitor compliance with
LOIE was continuing. For the first time, labour
inspectors were being supplied with specific
information to enable them to detect gender-based
discrimination. Although equality plans were not
required for small and medium-sized enterprises, they

were encouraged to establish them. The Government
was hiring consultants to help develop equality plans
for such companies.

21. To promote the sharing of responsibilities for
childcare, the equality law provided that male and
female workers should be allowed to change their work
schedules so as to have time for family life. The courts
were supporting men and women who filed complaints
about employers who did not allow that flexibility. The
law included certain positive measures on behalf of
male and female workers, such as requiring that a man
or a woman who wished to take leave to care for a
child or dependent should be able to return to the same
job upon completing the period of leave. Employers
were also required to provide such workers with
refresher courses to update their skills. Male workers
were entitled to two weeks’ paternity leave, and day-
care facilities were provided for children under 3 years
old. Parents also received €2,500 as direct assistance
for each child.

22. Ms. de Santos (Spain) said that in March 2009,
the General Secretariat for Employment of the Ministry
of Labour had issued its first report on women and the
labour market, which showed that women in general,
including immigrant women, were weathering the
crisis better than men. Female employment had
continued to increase, and women had achieved a level
of skills that put them on a par with men among the
economically active population. Nevertheless, wage
discrimination remained a problem. The report showed
that in 2008, only 1.5 million out of 10 million active
women were unemployed; of those, more than half
were in the 30-54 age group.

23. Discussions on employment policy were on the
agenda of the social dialogue currently under way
between the Government and representatives of labour
unions and private businesses. Since 2008, the
Government had been implementing a stimulus plan
which included promoting part-time employment,
bearing in mind the economic crisis. The ultimate goal
was that part-time or temporary jobs should eventually
become permanent full-time jobs. With regard to the
wage gap and the inspection programme, she said that
the Council of Ministers had recently organized
courses to upgrade the training of labour inspectors,
particularly in the area of gender discrimination.

24. Ms. Linares (Spain) said that the illiteracy rate
among the Roma population had dropped from

09-41739



CEDAW/C/SR.889 (A)

68 per cent in 1978 to the current level of 16 per cent
among Roma women and 9 per cent for Roma men.
Promoting education for the Roma population was a
high priority, especially since 1987, when the
development plan for the Roma population had been
launched. An effort was being made to include positive
images of successful members of the Roma community
in the school curricula. Volunteers from a non-profit
association were providing teachers and serving as
mediators between the schools and the Roma
community, encouraging Roma parents to become
more involved with school programmes and Roma
children to participate in extracurricular activities.

25. Ms. Martinez (Spain) said that about 54 per cent
of the beneficiaries of Government projects for the
Roma people were women. During the period 2004-
2008, more that €6.5 million had been invested in
programmes co-financed with the autonomous
communities. With regard to rural women, a royal
decree had been issued establishing shared ownership
of farms, so that the wives or daughters of farm owners
were fully entitled to the social protection associated
with the farm. That right also included direct
entitlement to assistance and payment of all subsidies
associated with the agricultural activities on that land.
In addition, a gender observatory had been created for
rural women. More than 90 per cent of the Spanish
population currently lived in urban areas, and
depopulation had become a problem in rural areas;
hence the importance of women’s contribution in the
rural environment. Agrarian cooperatives, microcredit
facilities, networks of women producing crafts, and
prizes for literary and artistic achievements of rural
women were all being encouraged, as was the
participation of rural women’s organizations. It was
significant that the ministries of agriculture and of the
environment were headed by women.

26. The imposition of penalties for employers who
discriminated against women in the workplace was a
matter for the courts to decide. To encourage private
businesses to comply with the equality law,
consideration was being given to establishing
incentives such as special awards to companies that
followed good practices and promoted equality in their
labour relations.

27. Ms. Aido (Spain) said that in the context of the
social dialogue between the Government and the labour
and business sectors, a unit had been created to
monitor implementation of the law on effective

09-41739

equality between women and men. Also, the Council of
Ministers had recently approved a measure whereby
women who had to take leave for reasons related to
pregnancy or childcare should continue accruing their
benefit entitlements during the period of leave. A
subsidy was granted for women working as domestic
servants.

28. The Government shared the concerns expressed
regarding the increase in unwanted pregnancies and
voluntary interruptions of pregnancy. New regulations
were being developed to provide legal guarantees to
ensure that women and professionals involved in
pregnancy terminations would not be prosecuted. That
provision would be included in a broader bill that was
being drafted in keeping with recommendations of the
World Health Organization and other international
organizations. The bill would also include measures on
sex education and sexual and reproductive health and
would require the Government to draw up a national
strategy on sexual and reproductive health every five
years, in collaboration with the autonomous
communities, social organizations and scientific
associations. Special emphasis would also be placed on
prevention of sexually transmitted diseases. The bill
was in the drafting stage, but would soon be submitted
to Parliament.

Articles 15 and 16

29. Ms. Halperin-Kaddari asked for information on
the availability of free legal aid for women in cases of
family litigation. She would also like information
about alternative dispute resolution, especially
mediation, assuming that mediation was encouraged,
but she would like to know whether safeguards were in
place, given that mediation could potentially have
adverse effects for women because it sometimes
enhanced power differences, especially when domestic
violence was an issue. She would like to know about
the status of no-fault divorce. She asked for
information about shared custody, which might give
men an excuse to lower the amount of child support
they would have to pay. Had the Government
conducted research on those issues and were
monitoring mechanisms in place to safeguard against
the risks involved in the legislative amendments?

30. She would like to know whether common-law
marriages or de facto relationships were now being
accorded the same rights and obligations as formal
marriages? If so, what were the implications for Roma



CEDAW/C/SR.889 (A)

women and Roma marriages? She would also be
interested to hear about the status of Roma women
with respect to State benefits such as pension rights.

31. Ms. Ruiz (Spain) said that Spanish legislation
was very generous in granting legal aid for persons
with limited means. Law 1/1996 on free legal aid
established certain basic requirements for such
assistance. The main requirement was that the person
should not have the financial means to pay for an
attorney. The law guaranteed free legal assistance for
women with disabilities and those in other categories
covered by the law on effective equality. That
assistance was also available to persons acting on
behalf of their dependents who had disabilities. Free
legal aid was also guaranteed for foreign women
regardless of their administrative status.

32. A bill on family mediation was currently being
drafted to bring Spanish legislation in line with that of
the European Union. The legislation on divorce dealt
with a wvariety of issues, including shared
responsibilities for the care of children and other
dependents. The rules regarding separation and divorce
proceedings had been simplified. The Spanish Civil
Code focused on the effects and consequences of
separation and divorce, especially for minor and adult
children. A child support guarantee fund had recently
been established to cover support payments when the
debtor spouse was not meeting that obligation, with the
State subsequently collecting the amounts it had paid
from the delinquent spouse. In divorce cases, a
compensatory pension was provided, either on a
temporary or an indefinite basis. In assigning
compensation, the courts took into account a variety of
circumstances, including agreements between the
spouses, the age or health of the persons affected by
the divorce, the professional qualifications of the
spouse who was in a vulnerable position and the
person’s employability. Pensions could be changed
under special circumstances. Use of the family
domicile was also regulated by the Civil Code.

33. Ms. Aido (Spain) said that the most recent
amendment to the Civil Code provisions regarding
divorce allowed shared-custody arrangements provided
they were requested by both spouses or by only one
spouse if the request was approved by the relevant
authorities and was considered to be in the best
interests of the minor children. A study was currently
under way on the issue of custody and all its
implications. Shared custody was not allowed when

gender violence was an issue. There was no provision
for mediation. Marriage was a contract that gave rise to
certain rights and duties. The State did not concern
itself with rites or traditions or customs. A civil
contract was required in all cases, even when a
marriage ceremony had been held.

34. She was pleased to announce that on 26 June
2009, the Council of Ministers had decided to ratify the
amendment to article 20 (1) of the Convention. The
report of the Council would be submitted to the
Congress of Deputies, and the ratification procedure
should be completed by the end of the year.

35. Ms. Halperin-Kaddari asked for clarification of
the provisions of the law on effective equality that
required companies in the private sector to meet parity
standards. She wondered what would happen to a
company that did not comply.

36. She still wondered about the situation of de facto
relationships and what rights and obligations a couple
in a de facto relationship would have. She asked for a
definition of marital property and whether it included
pension rights, savings and earning potential or
personal goodwill.

37. Mr. Flinterman asked what improvements had
been made in the procedures for women seeking
asylum when gender-related issues were involved. He
would like to know what the Government had done to
improve the asylum procedure in order to ensure that
gender-related claims were properly considered.

38. He wondered if the judiciary and the Ilegal
profession were fully aware of the provisions of the
Convention and whether the judiciary and the legal
profession received continuous education regarding the
interpretation of the Convention.

39. Ms. Pimentel asked if Roma women received
some kind of health education, bearing in mind reports
that Roma women often practiced self-medication,
sometimes taking the wrong medicines or the wrong
dosages.

40. Ms. Linares (Spain) said that that Ministry of
Health and the autonomous communities were making
every effort to educate health-care providers working
with the Roma community, especially to acquaint them
with the culture and traditions of that community.
Approximately 80 per cent of the clients of health-care
programmes were Roma women. It was true that
members of that group tended to take more medication

09-41739



CEDAW/C/SR.889 (A)

than necessary. The Government was implementing
comprehensive programmes aimed at teaching Roma
women, bearing mind that they would be transmitting
what they learned to the rest of the community.

41. Ms. del Puy (Spain) said that even before the
adoption of LOIE, victims of gender discrimination
had been deemed worthy of international protection.
That protection was included not only in the law on
effective equality, but also in the bill on the right of
asylum that was currently in Parliament and was
expected to be adopted by the end of September. The
gender perspective was therefore one of the issues that
was taken into account when the authorities considered
requests for asylum. In 2008, out of a total of
4,517 requests for asylum, 1,417, or about 40 per cent,
had been submitted by women. Asylum or some type of
subsidiary protection had been granted in 102 of those
1,417 cases. Although it was true that only a small
percentage of women had received international
protection on gender-based grounds; it was also true
that in most cases, the asylum request had been made
for purely economic reasons. In most cases, there had
been agreement between the Spanish authorities and
the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees.

42. Ms. Ruiz (Spain) said that all international
treaties that had been ratified by Spain were
incorporated into its domestic legislation and were
binding not only on the judiciary but also on all
practitioners of the law, including officials involved in
protection procedures for women, foreigners and other
groups. Members of the judiciary and legal
professionals received training on the implications of
all treaties for their work, as evidenced in the many

court decisions that specifically referred to the
Convention.
43. Ms. Martinez (Spain) said that the law on

effective equality recommended but did not require
that businesses should comply with the parity principle
on their boards of directors. During the two years in
which LOIE had been implemented, the number of
women on boards had tripled, from 3 per cent to
9 per cent. That proportion was still inadequate, and it
was therefore possible that consideration might be
given to making parity a requirement.

44. With regard to property rights and the division of
assets (patrimonio) and joint property (gananciales)
after divorce, she said that at the time of marriage, a
couple could choose between the separate property

09-41739

regime or the community property regime. During
separation or divorce proceedings, if the couple had
chosen community property, any assets acquired during
the marriage would be divided between the spouses.
Consideration was currently being given to the
possibility of also allowing the division of pension
entitlements accrued during marriage.

45. Replying to the question about de facto unions,
she said that with the legalization of same-sex
marriages, there was no longer any discrimination as to
who could get married. All the rights pertaining to
marriage under civil law arose from the civil contract
entered into by the spouses. Consequently, the issue of
discrimination or inequality regarding access to the
civil rights inherent in marriage no longer existed.

46. Ms. Aido (Spain) said that after the end of the
eight years allowed in LOIE for private businesses to
attain parity on their boards, the Government would
have to consider whether penalties should be imposed
on firms that did not meet parity goals. At present, a
system of incentives was in place to encourage
businesses to offer equal treatment and equal
opportunities for their female and male employees, as
well as on their boards. Companies that met equality
standards might also receive preferential treatment
when bidding for Government contracts, provided they
met all the other conditions of the tender.

47. She was pleased to announce that in December,
Spain would hold a special event to celebrate the
thirtieth anniversary of the Convention.

48. The Chairperson commended the Government
of Spain for the political will it had demonstrated in its
efforts to eliminate discrimination against women.
Some problems remained, particularly in regard to
some of the stereotypes concerning women and in the
health sector. She welcomed Spain’s decision to accept
the amendment to article 20 of the Convention. At the
same time, she hoped that Spain would soon withdraw
its reservation concerning succession to the crown.

The meeting rose at 5 p.m.




<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


